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Of the communities that make up Lincoln City -- DeLake, Taft, Cutler City,
Nelscott and Oceanlake -- Taft is unique. It is the only community in North Lincoln
County still in existence whose Euro-American settlement predates the automobile
age. Prior to settlement, its location on flat terrain near the mouth of the Siletz Bay
and Schooner Creek provided a gathering place for the local Salish Indians for
centuries.

Taft became a Euro-American community in the early 1900s. Its waterfront
emerged as a small trading and social center for homesteaders living nearby in
relative isolation on the floodplains of Schooner and Drift creeks. With the
construction of the Roosevelt Military Highway (present-day Highway 101) in the
mid-1920s, North Lincoln County’s isolation came to an end. The highway served as
the main street of every town along the Oregon Coast in its path, including Taft.
Like most coastal communities impacted by highway construction, Taft underwent a
transformation. Seemingly overnight, its core business district (present-day 51st
Street) moved from the Siletz Bay waterfront to the new highway.

Highway construction coincided with the advent of affordable automobiles.
Motoring tourists suddenly were the driving force of the economy. When North
Lincoln County became accessible by road, there was a rush to develop new resort
communities that catered specifically to the motoring public. Camp Roosevelt,
Cutler City, DeLake, Depoe Bay, Gleneden Beach, Neotsu, Lincoln Beach, N elscott,
Oceanlake, Roads End and Wecoma were all competing developments within a few

miles of Taft that sprang up shortly after the completion of the highway.



SECTION I: CONTEXT DEFINITION
IA - THEME

No resource should be studied in isolation. By comparing similar resource
types, integrity, relative scarcity and pattern of occurrence, reasoned determinations
of significance within any given context can be quantified and defended. The
chronological and thematic categories developed for Oregon’s Statewide Inventory
of Historic Places (SIHP) provides an organizational framework by which resources
surveyed as part of this project are assessed. This system utilizes 10 broad themes
and eight chronological periods.

These broad themes are:

1. Prehistory/ Archaeology

2. Exploration and Fur Trade

3. Native American and Euro-American Relations
4. Settlement

5. Agriculture

6. Transportation and Communication
7. Commerce and Urban Development
8. Industry and Manufacturing

9. Government

10. Culture

Central Themes
Themes six and seven (Transportation and Communication, Commerce and

Urban Development) are central to the development of Taft.

The history of Taft illustrates well a community’s transformation from an
isolated waterfront trade center to an automobile-based tourist town with high
hopes for the future. Its modest beginnings as a community can be traced to July
1894 -- the date North Lincoln County opened up for Euro-American settlement. By
the early 1900s, Taft was a central gathering place for isolated homesteaders who
recently had settled on former Siletz Indian Reservation land.

Taft grew at a snail’s pace until North Lincoln County’s entry into the
automobile age in the early 1920s. With the coming of the highway began Taft’s

transformation into what it is today: a resort community catering to the motoring
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public. The vast majority of the historic sites and structures in Taft date from this
transitional period.

Sub Themes

Prehistory / Archaeology

What little information from this period in existence is obtained from
pioneer recollections.

Exploration and Fur Trade
There is no shortage of speculation as to the identity of the region’s first

maritime explorers. As best can be determined, the early maritime explorers of the
Central Oregon Coast -- be they Spanish, English or Russian -- left no detailed
descriptions of their observations.

For the purposes of this project, the exploration era begins in 1849 with the
first known detailed written account of the area.

Native American & Euro-American Relations
There was virtually no interest in the Central Oregon Coast among the

homesteaders that flocked to the Oregon Territory seeking free acreage made
available by the enactment of the Oregon Donation Land Act of 1850. Early-day
Oregon settlers were primarily drawn to areas known for their great agricultural
potential, mineral wealth or harvestable timber reserves.

Given the inaccessibility of the Oregon Coast in the 19th century and the
limited supply of the specific natural resources necessary to support homesteaders, it
seems little wonder the Central Oregon Coast remained isolated until the creation of
the Siletz Indian Reservation. In fact, its isolation was the principal reason it was
selected as the site of the Siletz Reservation in 1855.

Settlement
The hilly and frequently muddy terrain of North Lincoln County made cross-

country travel difficult at best. The region’s first settlements were near bodies of
water accessible by boat, namely the Siletz Bay and River.

The first North Lincoln County settlement was called Kernville and was
based on the establishment of a salmon cannery on the Siletz River.

Taft emerged as the social and economic center of North Lincoln County. Taft
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began on the land bordering the north end of the Siletz Bay, near present-day 51st
Street. In addition to being the region’s economic center, Taft's waterfront was a
social center where local celebrations, dances and other gatherings were held.

Agriculture and Other Resource-Dependent Commerce

For the purposes of this project, the theme has been expanded to include
other resource-dependent commerce, namely the wood products and fishing
industries.

Most of the agriculture-, maritime- and wood products-related activity in
North Lincoln County was outside of the boundaries of Taft proper. The central
location of Taft and its accessibility by water led to its emergence as a central social
and trade center. Most of the residents in North Lincoln County who settled on
nearby Schooner Creek, Drift Creek and elsewhere were subsistence farmers. A dairy
industry flourished briefly in North Lincoln County but disappeared with the
emergence of corporate agriculture and tightening health regulations.

Industry and Manufacturing

Fishing, logging and a few other short-lived industries played secondary roles
in the development of Taft. While logging and commercial fishing have at times
been important industries in North Lincoln County, their activities primarily were
located up the Siletz River from Taft. Since the automobile age, tourism and
hospitality have been Taft’s largest industries. The development of Taft has very
much been shaped by the demands of motoring tourists.

Government

Taft was an incorporated area of Lincoln County until officially becoming a
city on Aug. 16, 1949. J.W. Lundin served as its first mayor. This was less than a year
after voters in Taft, DeLake, Nelscott, Oceanlake and Cutler City turned down a
motion to consolidate into one town that was to be called (temporarily) Lincoln City.
This nearly coincides with the logical temporal boundary selected for this project,
the early 1950s. This is when the transformation to a automobile-oriented resort
community was largely complete.



Culture

In Taft’s beginnings, it was a social center of North Lincoln County. A
substantial percentage of the residents at this time were of Finnish descent.
Curiously, tangible reminders of this era are not to be found. Early on, Taft seems to
have been heavily patronized by homesteaders picking up their mail and supplies
and socializing, particularly during special events.

Perhaps the most memorable annual event held at Taft was the “Redhead
Roundup.” This Depression-era roundup grew from a one-day festival into a
profitable multi-day event.

IB - PIACE
With a few exceptions, the scope of this project is confined to the oldest

sections of Taft -- its waterfront district and the adjacent Highway 101 corridor. This
district comprises 51st Street (formerly known as Pacific Avenue) and the
immediate area. The waterfront district is along the north bank on the Siletz Bay,
and east to the area near the mouth of Schooner Creek. The scope of this project is
confined to above-ground resources (buildings, objects, structures, markers and
other built resources) in the section of Lincoln City that was originally the town of
Taft. Also included are natural features of identified cultural significance and

viewsheds that contribute to the overall character of the Taft neighborhood.

IC - TIME

Temporal limits for this project begin at 1849, when Lieutenant Theodore
Talbot penned the first written description of the area, and end with the early 1950s
when Taft’s transformation from a waterfront-based trade and social center to a

highway-based tourist town could be considered complete.



SECTION II - CONTEXT DESCRIPTION

ITA.1 - HISTORIC OVERVIEW
Geographic Character

Historic Taft is sited on generally flat ground along the north end of Siletz Bay
and along the beach just north of the bay. Before extensive filling and diking, this
low-lying tidal flatland was the floodplain of Schooner Creek and susceptible to
ocean flooding during storms and high tides. This bottomland is composed of silt,
sand and gravel dating from the Pleistocene epoch to present.

Twenty-thousand years ago, during the last ice age, the ocean shoreline was
approximately twenty to thirty miles west of its present position. A wide, flat plain
separated the mountains from the ocean. During the ice age, rivers such as the Siletz
flowed across this plain to the ocean, slowly eroding it to form a valley. As the
glaciers began to melt, the sea rose proportionally to submerge the plain. Today it is
under water and forms the continental shelf, the ocean having reached its present
level about 2,000 years ago. The valley along the shoreline developed into the Siletz
Bay estuary. Like other estuaries, the bay is slowly filling with sediment deposited by
the ocean tides and the river. The rate of fill is difficult to track, as most scientists
believe the sea is slowly rising as global warming causes the poles to melt.’

Fault lines have been mapped on the land nearby. These are normal faults
which are upthrown to the northwest. There are no indications of recent
movement. However, there is abundant evidence documenting historic
earthquakes in the Cascadia subduction zone along the coastline of the Pacific
Northwest. Evidence suggests as many as thirteen major earthquakes have occurred
in about the last 7,700 years. Earthquakes have occurrence intervals ranging from

250 to 650 years with a mean near 450 years. It is believed the last major quake was

! Komar, pgs. 24-36.



approximately 300 years ago. Shock waves from an earthquake have caused
liquefaction of the soil. The ground in this area is susceptible to liquefaction because
it is composed of shallow subsurface soils consisting of saturated, loose, fine- to
medium-grain sand. Taft is also susceptible to tsunamis, massive waves generated
by off-shore seismic activity.’

The ocean shoreline in this area is quite dynamic, changing dramatically with
the seasons. High waves erode the sand in the winter months; in the summer,
small waves deposit the sand back on shore.’ The cliffs just north of Siletz Bay erode
very little: an estimated three to ten centimeters each year. The beach below is fairly
flat and composed of fine-grain sand, which acts as an effective buffer between the
ocean surf and the cliffs. The composition of the cliffs (Pleistocene terrace sands) also
prevent them from being particularly susceptible to erosion. Cliffs of the type found
at Taft beach generally fail in small-scale, vertical falls rather than in the more
dramatic landslides that occur elsewhere along the Oregon Coast.*

The waterfront of historic Taft along Schooner Creek experienced a period of
erosion that began in 1973 and ended in 1984. During this period, approximately 1.8
to 2.3 feet of shoreline eroded away annually. It is not certain whether this was
caused by ocean wave action or migration of Schooner Creek. Since 1984, the erosion
has totaled less that five feet.’

The most recent dramatic movement of the land in the form of erosion was
on Siletz Spit, just across the mouth of the Siletz River from Taft. Up until the mid-
1960s, this naturally formed sand spit appeared much as it had for hundreds of years.
Except for a smattering of dune grass and wild strawberries, this was a barren barrier

between the ocean and the Siletz Bay of low rolling sand. Erosion of Siletz Spit was

2 H.G. Schilcker & Associates Inc.
* Komar, pgs. 45-47.

* Komar, pgs. 153 -154.

* Schilcker, pg. 8.



detected shortly after sand mining began at Gleneden Beach, just south of the spit.

From 1965 until 1971, 110,000 yards of sand were removed at Gleneden Beach. This
operation was halted by state order after it became apparent that sand removal was
contributing to the erosion of the ocean side of Siletz Spit.

Erosion of Siletz Spit on the bay side had been relatively slow until the 1960s.
Erosion accelerated when the water flow pattern in the estuary was altered. This is
believed to have started shortly after fill dirt was trucked in to build up a W-shaped
land mass upon which a housing development known as Siletz Keys was
constructed. As part of this project, a dike was constructed blocking Millport Slough.

Erosion on both the bay and ocean sides of the Siletz Spit has diminished its
width from 535 feet in 1875 to 171 feet in 1973. Extensive riprapping since that time

has slowed erosion of the spit.

First People

What little archaeological evidence exists on the history of the Central
Oregon Coast indicates that Native Americans had resided there for thousands of
years. Many of Taft’s Euro-American pioneers recall a shell midden near the end of
present-day 51st Street.° Shell middens were essentially Indian garbage dumps that
were sited at encampments. One early resident described the Taft shell midden as
“enormous,” which indicates this area was probably used as a camp site for
centuries. Little, if anything, remains of this midden today. Typically, early coastal
residents found the composition of the shell middens (mostly small pieces of shell)
ideal for road-surfacing material or fill.

There is no shortage of speculation as to the identity of the region’s first Euro-
American maritime explorers. Whomever they were -- Spanish, English or Russian

-- they left no detailed descriptions of their observations.

® Salazar, Volume II, pg. 83.



First Firsthand Account

The first detailed account of the Central Oregon Coast was written in 1849 by
Lieutenant Theodore Talbot. The Talbot journal offers some concise insights into
the land and its people. His party of nine men left Oregon City for the Central
Oregon Coast in search of coal deposits. After four days of travel, they reached Kings
Valley. From there they headed west to the ocean. Talbot described the Coast Range
as “mountains enveloped with such dense smoke, occasioned by some large fires to
the south of us, that we could see but little of the surrounding country.” Talbot
noted, “These fires are frequent occurrence in the forests of Oregon, raging with
violence for months, until quelled by the continual rains of the winter season.”
Talbot also encountered a party of Klickitat Indians from Eastern Oregon returning
from a hunting excursion to the coast. According to Talbot, the Klickitat made such
trips frequently and had cut two trails from the Willamette Valley to the coast.
Talbot wrote they shared “a great deal of information with regard to the part of the
country over which I wished to travel.” The day following his encounter with the
Klickitat Indians, Talbot traveled nine miles through steep terrain “obstructed by
fallen trees and thick brush” and burned-over forest to reach the north fork of the
Siletz River.

He then traveled downstream through “dense willow and cherry thickets” to
the main arm of the Siletz River. After camping near what is now the town of
Siletz, Talbot headed south, where he spent about a week and a half exploring the
Yaquina and Alsea bays. Talbot then headed north, loosely following the route of
present-day Highway 101 to the Siletz Bay. His descriptions of the Siletz Bay predate
the beginnings of Taft by more than a half-century. The Native American presence

was quite evident on the Siletz Bay. He observed it was the custom of the local



Indians to deposit their dead along with their personal belongings in canoes on
platforms that were suspended in the air with poles. Talbot noted that thousands, if
not millions, of acres near there recently had been burned over by a forest fire.

Some of the details recorded by Talbot could have been written yesterday. He
observed the upper bay’s “vast marsh, intersected with numerous small canals,
which are filled at high water and left nearly dry as the tide recedes.” Of present-day
Siletz Spit, Talbot wrote, “On the west (Siletz Bay) side, it is separated from the ocean
by a range of loose sand hills.” After looking over the mouth of the Siletz Bay, he
concluded it would be “impossible for any kind of vessel or boat to pass in safely.””

Talbot’s crossing of Siletz Bay near its mouth was not without difficulty. He
first sent his horses across. All made it safely except for one that was carried out into
the ocean by a wave and drowned. His party constructed a raft out of the “thousands
of drift logs” that were strewn about the beach. The raft proved unsatisfactory for the
crossing, but the men found a canoe that was concealed in the brush. By the time his
party had made the crossing, it was dark and camp was set up “a hundred yards from
the shore.” That night, an elderly Native American “who had come in a canoe from
some distance up the bay” entered their camp. He told Talbot that he was a member
of two remaining families on Siletz Bay. They were survivors of a once much larger
population of Salish Indians residing there. Talbot attributed their decline to a

smallpox epidemic in 1831.°

The Reservation Era
Six years after Talbot’s visit, an executive order set in motion the
repopulation of the Central Oregon Coast with Native Americans. On November 9,

1855, just a few weeks after a series of skirmishes between settlers and Native

’Talbot, pg. 11.
¢ Talbot, pg. 12.
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Americans residing in Southern Oregon and Northern California, President
Franklin Pierce signed the order establishing the Coast Reservation. Initially, it was
1.4 million acres. About the size of Delaware, it stretched north to Cape Lookout in
Tillamook County and south almost to the Umpqua River in Douglas County. The
Native Americans from Southern Oregon and Northern California were to be
relocated to the Coast Reservation to avoid conflicts with white settlers and to
receive training to become self-supporting farmers. The headquarters of the
reservation was at the present-day town of Siletz.’

The first Native Americans arrived in 1856 at the mouth of the Salmon
River. The first load of supplies was shipped via Yaquina Bay. The next supply ship
wrecked while trying to enter Siletz Bay. The inaccessibility of the area prompted the
relocation of Siletz Indians to Yaquina Bay. By July 1857, there were 2,049 Indians on
the Coast Reservation. In a letter written at that time, Indian Agent Robert Metcalf
described them as “wretchedly poor, and destitute of all the necessaries and comforts
of life, except what is supplied them by the government.”” Disease combined with
poor living conditions diminished their population rapidly.

On December 21, 1865, the acreage of the reservation began diminishing as
well. President Andrew Johnson signed an order throwing the oyster-rich Yaquina
Bay section of the reservation open for settlement. Shortly thereafter, Newport got
its start as a resort town. In 1875, the reservation became yet smaller when an
amendment passed Congress requiring the removal of Indians residing south of the
Alsea River and north of the Salmon River. What is now North Lincoln County
and the Grand Ronde Agency in Polk County became the sum total of the Coast
Reservation.

During this period, most of the activity on the reservation appears to have

*Schwartz, pgs. 161 -164.
1 Schwartz, pg. 166.
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been at the headquarters in Siletz and on the farmlands nearby. The Coast
Reservation was closed to Euro-American settlement, but the salmon-rich Siletz
River was a popular destination for Willamette Valley fishermen. Perhaps the only
existing documentation of such a visit was written by Alfred Acklom. He wrote an
account of his 1880 excursion in 1935. Acklom visited what later became Taft. En
route to the coast from Corvallis, he stopped at the Grand Ronde Agency of the
Coast Reservation, where he was warned the “alleged” road along the banks of the
Salmon River was in poor condition and dangerous in areas where side hill tracks
were not graded. Acklom’s trip, which predated bridge construction, required him to
cross the river no fewer than 12 times.

When Acklom arrived at the Siletz Bay, he called upon the isolated “small
Indian village” he had visited a few years prior while on a canoe trip down the
Siletz River. Its population consisted of “six or eight bucks” (men) and their
families. At the mouth of Schooner Creek, there was a crudely fenced pasture where
he put his horses. The village was adjacent to the pasture, but the Acklom account
does not offer a pinpoint location. In his narrative he wrote, “On the site of the old
Indian Rancherie, I believe, the little town of Taft now stands.” He set up camp near
the village and was treated hospitably by the Siletz Indians. He spent nearly a week
touring the area and hunting. From there, Acklom went up the river to Siletz before
returning to Corvallis.”

The relative isolation enjoyed by Acklom on his visit to present-day Taft and
North Lincoln County came to an end when the General Allotment Act of 1887 was
applied to the Coast Reservation. This act gave the president the authority to impose
land ownership on Indian communities. The reservations to which the allotment
act was applied were typically divided into 160-acre parcels that the government was

to hold in trust for the Indian owners for 25 years before giving them clear title.

' Galazar , Volume II, pg. 1.
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Passage of the General Allotment Act came after the government abandoned its goal
of integrating Indians into society through myriad educational programs. Land
ownership, it believed, would erase the differences between whites and Indians.

In July 1894, after several false starts and 17 months of negotiations with the
Siletz Tribe, an agreement to implement the General Allotment Act was reached.
Tribal members received allotments in North Lincoln County of approximately 80
acres each. Most of the allotments were awarded to tribal members on July 26, 1894.
The government allotted 44,459 acres to 551 tribal members. The tribe itself received
$142,600 from the government for more than 175,000 acres that were then offered to
the public for $1.50 an acre. On July 14, 1895, Congress approved the agreement with
the Siletz Tribe, and the surplus land in North Lincoln County was opened to
claimants.”

When North Lincoln County opened for settlement in 1895, there was
virtually no chance of the railroad reaching the Siletz Bay. The railroad, which was
completed to Yaquina Bay in the early 1880s, went through bankruptcy in the 1890s
and the nation was in the midst of a depression. Economic growth was also deterred
by the lack of a deep-water shipping port. Boats and ships small enough to cross the
Siletz bar found it a treacherous undertaking.

Settlement Era

Jacob Johnson Jr. and his wife, Sissy, were the first officially recognized
owners of what would become the site of Taft. They received their land under the
General Allotment Act. Jacob (usually referred to as “Jakie” or “Jackey”) received a
strip of land along the north end of Siletz Bay that bordered the open ocean.” In
present-day terms, this is the location of all of southwest 49th and 51st streets. It

appears the eastern boundary of his allotment was just a few lots west of today’s

2 Schwartz, pgs. 214-220.
 Map, “Land Status as of 8-13-1956, Siletz Indian Reservation,” copy in possession of the Confederated
Tribes of the Siletz.
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Highway 101. Sissy (sometimes spelled with an “ie”) was allotted two smaller
parcels. One of her parcels bordered her husband’s on the easternmost boundary.
Both of her lots were on the north bank of Schooner Creek. They constructed a
house near the bay on the Taft waterfront, where the Gates apartment building
stood in the early 1950s. They also had a barn that was just east of the house.” As late
as 1904, the Johnson dwelling was the only house in all of Taft.” When the Liswig
family moved into the Johnson house in the early 1900s, they pastured cattle on the
property north of Siletz Bay between present-day 51st and 49th streets. At this time,
it was a “swampy area.” The path to the waterfront from the Johnson place was an
elevated walkway. In addition to farming, Johnson ran a rowboat ferry service,
taking passengers across Siletz Bay."

By all accounts, the Johnsons were well-known and liked. In 1895, the
Johnson’s waterfront land, later known as “Taft Flat,” become a popular gathering
and camping place among the locals, particularly on the Fourth of July.” Five years
later, Taft hosted the first annual North Lincoln Pioneer Picnic.” The Johnsons were
honored on March 11, 1899, when a post office was established on Drift Creek near
present-day Cutler City (Lincoln City) by the Parmele family. They named it Johnson
as a tribute to Jacob and Sissy.” The Johnsons had 80 acres of property on Drift Creek
(probably acquired from a relative, Rosa Johnson), which they later sold to Matt
~ Kangas.” The Johnsons turned down many offers from settlers of the area who

recognized the value of their Taft allotment land.”

 Nelson, pg. 59.

'* Nelson, pg. 65.

16 Salazar, Volume II, pg. 31.
¥ Salazar, Volume II, pg. 86.
'8 Salazar , Volume II, pg. 19.
¥Salazar, Volume II, pg, 18.
#*Salazar, Volume II, pg. 65.
#! Salazar Volume II, pg. 5.
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The Town of Taft

Prior to the emergence of an enduring settlement pattern on Siletz Bay, there
was also a small, largely forgotten, settlement that could have rivaled Taft.
Established by Hiram Longcoy on the south side of Schooner Creek along present-
day 54th Drive, it was variously known as Grand View, Longcoy’s Grand View Park,
or simply Longcoy. After about 10 years, it fell into decline, and it was apparent that
Taft, sited on the north end of Siletz Bay on relatively level ground, would
unquestionably emerge as the primary social and trade center on Siletz Bay.”

Homesteaders came from miles around (usually by water) to patronize Taft’s
waterfront stores. The store that housed the post office was generally a cut above the
rest, as it functioned as a social and retail center of North Lincoln County.

John W. Bones was the first to open such an establishment. When the
Johnsons opted to return to Siletz in 1904, they rented their house to Bones, who
established a temporary store in it. The Bones store was primarily patronized by
homesteaders living along Schooner Creek.” Bones had moved from McMinnville
that year and obtained a 150-acre homestead north of Taft and south of Nelscott.”
His house was located near the intersection of present-day Coast Avenue and
Highway 101.” The original claimant of this parcel had died. The Bones store was
the first retail establishment in Taft. Cloverdale businessmen Charles P. Nelson (a
prominent figure in the development of Nelscott) and Charles Ray had a new store
built for Bones on the waterfront very near the west end of present-day 51st Street.
Nelson and Ray supplied Bones with merchandise on consignment. Goods were
shipped via their boat, Della, that called regularly on Taft and Kernville.”

In 1906, Bones established a post office in a corner of his store. When the

2 Nelson, pgs. 61-62.

» Salazar, Volume II, pg. 29.

* Salazar , Volume II, pg. 28.

% Katy Zook, “Bay Area of Taft Boasts Roots, History, Legends,” News Guard, 20 April 1988.
* Salazar , Volume 11, pg. 43.
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name “Siletz” was rejected by postal authorities, Bones chose “Taft” after President
William Howard Taft. At that time in Taft’s political career, he was President
Theodore Roosevelt's secretary of war. ¥ Two years after the Taft post office was
established, North Lincoln County became somewhat more accessible when
improvements were completed to the Old Elk Trail and it opened as a toll road.

The Bones store and the pioneer stores that followed also functioned as
outlets where homesteaders could sell or trade commodities. The merchant, in turn,
exported the local goods. There is documentation of merchants purchasing animal
hides® and cascara bark.” Cascara was harvested by local homesteaders and
ultimately used to manufacture laxatives.

During Taft’s early years, North Lincoln County’s demographics were in
transition. Policies implemented by the U.S. government facilitated the transfer of
Indian allotment lands to the private sector. The so-called “Dead Indian Act” of 1902
allowed reservation officials to sell the land when an allottee died. From 1904 to
1906, a fifth of the allotment land in North Lincoln County was sold off and one-
tenth was leased. To a lesser degree, the Burke Act, passed by Congress in 1906, also
contributed to the decline in the acreage held by Siletz tribal members. It granted
U.S. citizenship to allotment holders when their properties were no longer held in
trust by the government. It also threw out the fixed trust period of 25 years and
' authorized the secretary of the interior to issue land titles to allotment holders
when they were deemed competent.

John Kentta, a native of Finland, tracked the availability of allotment land,
which he acquired and resold. By at least one account, he negotiated with both
reservation officials and the allottees for desirable tracts. He primarily sold the land

to miners residing in Montana and Utah who usually purchased it sight unseen.

¥ Nelson, pg. 60.
* Salazar, Volume III, pg. 61.
» Galazar, Volume II, pg. 78.
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Most were recent immigrants from Finland along with a small contingency of
Estonians.® A substantial percentage of the Finns were closely related to each other.”
Typically, they settled on the land to become subsistence farmers. There are
descendants of these pioneers still living in the area today, but many of the Finnish
settlers sold out to logging companies in the 1920s after proving up on their land
claim.

The Alingers were one such pioneering family of Finnish immigrants. Andre
Alinger, along with his parents, brother and sister-in-law, moved to North Lincoln
County around 1910. The elder members of the Alinger family lived on Schooner
and Drift creeks. Andre worked at the Bones store on the Taft waterfront; the store
by that time had been sold to William Dodson. In 1912, Alinger struck out on his
own and built a store into the hillside near Dodson’s establishment. Alinger’s Taft
Co-Operative Store was also known as the Spring Store, as it was constructed around
a spring that was used to cool milk and other perishables. In 1912, Andre Alinger
became postmaster when the post office was moved to his establishment.” William
Dodson was not about to be outdone by Aligner. He demolished his old store and
hired John Butterfield, a homesteader, carpenter, and boat builder® to build a new
two-story building complete with a 40-by-56-foot dance floor.*In 1918, Andre
Alinger died and the post office was moved to Dodson’s Store.”

The Dodson Store later became Robison’s Siletz Bay Trading Post. It went
through several owners and ultimately sold to Lulu Lankford, who remodeled it
into apartments. In 1944, it was sold to L.P. Gates, who converted it into the Gates

Nursing Home. In 1967, it was purchased by the Hershey family, who ranit as a

* Salazar, Volume II, pg. 43.

% Galazar, Volume III, pg. 85.

32 “Taft Begins in 1894 with Jakie and Sissie Johnson,” News-Times, 10 February 1998.
% Salazar, Volume II, pg. 31.

* “Taft Begins in 1894.”

% “Taft Begins in 1894 .”
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nursing home until its closure in 1974. In the 1980s, the Hershey family converted it
into a restaurant. It since has been demolished.”

Alinger’s store went through several owners and later became the Horner
Hotel.” What was believed by many to be this building was later sawn in half and
turned into two rental cottages. Then in 1966, they were purchased by Jerry Parks
and moved to Otis Junction, where they were to be “restored” and added to a
frontier town attraction at his Pixieland amusement park.”

Further complicating any possibility of pinpointing the exact location of the
early structures on the Taft waterfront is the fact the land itself has been built up and
altered. Perhaps the first in this series of changes came in 1913 when several
buildings were moved back away from the water after they were threatened by large

driftwood logs carried into the bay by winter storms.”

Other industries

It appears early-day Taft merchants were the small minority of people able to
make a living in North Lincoln County. Industries providing income for area
residents were limited, at best. Perhaps the primary reason was the isolation of the
area. Roads had yet to be built, and accessibility by boat was somewhat treacherous.
Large-scale farming was nearly impossible because of the hilly terrain and poor soil.

Shortly after north county opened for settlement, the area’s first industry was
established in Kernville. The Kern brothers built a cannery on the Siletz River
upriver from Taft and from present-day Kernville in 1896. The Kern operation
packed chinook salmon under the brand name “Golden Rod.” Initially, 25 Chinese

men worked there. “White labor” was used for management and the operation of

% Hershey Family Renovates Old Taft Structure,” News Guard, undated 1980s clipping on file at
North Lincoln Pioneer Museum.

¥ Salazar, Volume III, pg. 54.

* Untitled photo caption, News Guard, 11 August 1966.

» Salazar, Volume III, pg. 52.
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the cannery’s engines. According to one homesteader, “everyone on the river,
homesteaders and Indians” fished with gill nets for the cannery.* Around 1907, this
operation was purchased by Astoria cannery man Sam Elmore and moved further
down the Siletz.

Taft had yet to become a tourist destination. In the early years, it had two
small lodging establishments that may not have been open simultaneously. Its first
was established when Bones began renting rooms in his house several blocks north
of the waterfront.* Three years after Bones left the area, Francis and Marie Mercier
established lodging next to their Taft Heights residence overlooking Siletz Bay.

A small-scale dairy industry provided some land owners with income.
Abraham Abrams, a native of Finland, figured prominently in the beginnings of
Taft and the dairy industry. He filed for a homestead in 1904 one-half mile up
Schooner Creek from Taft, where he operated a dairy farm.”? In 1910, Abrams
acquired the tideland along Schooner Creek and south of the creek where the
Lincoln City wastewater treatment plant is now located.” The Abrams family
established a home on the Taft waterfront.* Charles F. Robertson established a dairy,
complete with a modest cheese factory, on Schooner Creek. Robertson, who ran the
Dodson store for a while, also planted a small apple orchard. Like Abrams,
Robertson maintained a residence on the Taft waterfront.

In its infancy, the dairy industry showed promise. A local paper remarked in
1917, “The lowlands of Taft and Siletz furnish the best dairy lands. The fact is few
people realize that Northern Lincoln County is fast becoming the second Tillamook

of the state.” At that time, there were four small cheese factories in the Taft vicinity:

“ Lincoln County Leader, 07 October 1897.
“ Nelson, pg. 60.

“ Salazar , Volume 1I, pg. 79.

* Salazar , Volume II, pg. 79.

“ Salazar, Volume II, pg. 79.
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the Tompkins, Iler, Rusch and Boner factories.” The dairy industry flourished
briefly in the area. By 1938, the Kangas Bros. Dairy near Cutler City ceased selling
locally produced bottled milk. In the 1950s, the emergence of corporate agriculture
and tightening health regulations led to the virtual disappearance of the dairy
industry in Lincoln County.

While north county had an abundance of standing timber, logging was done
on a very limited basis until after World War L In 1905, a small sawmill was
established by the Parmele family at the mouth of Drift Creek. The Parmele mill
sold its products to the nearby settlers. * In 1917, The Victory of Siletz, a sixty-four-
foot boat, was built at the Parmele sawmill on Siletz Bay from wood sawn there.”
Two years later, this sawmill, which had been condemned, was destroyed in an
explosion that killed three people and injured two.* About the time of the demise of
the Parmele mill, a spruce sawmill (larger than the Parmele mill) was constructed
across the river from Kernville at Millport Slough. Known as the Noon Mill, it cut
primarily clear spruce to be used for airplane construction. Finished lumber was
shipped to Astoria on small oceangoing steam schooners that also carried supplies

for north county residents.

Infrastructure

Early on, Taft’s population and economic base (fishing, logging and retail)
were quite small. There was no need for an elaborate infrastructure; early civic
improvements were carried out on a very limited basis.

Perhaps Taft’s first municipal project was the construction of a boardwalk on

Pacific Avenue in the early 1920s. Each property owner underwrote the construction

% #Giletz Launches First Vessel,” Yaquina Bay News, 26 July 1917.
% Galazar, Volume II, pg. 17.

# “Siletz Launches First Vessel.”

[ incoln County Leader, 28 November 1919.
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of the section in front of his or her property. The boardwalk was built of piano-leg
stock purchased from Noon’s Mill in Kernville. ®

While the boardwalk required the cooperation of many residents, the town
cemetery started as the result of one man’s generosity. Pioneer merchant John Bones
set aside a portion of his land just above present-day Inn at Spanish Head for use as
a cemetery. Bones’ donation was spurred by the death of Neils Andersen, who
drowned after his launch capsized while attempting to cross the Siletz Bar.”

Perhaps one of the first government projects was the establishment of Taft’s
school in an abandoned store building across Schooner Creek in the defunct
settlement of Longcoy. Initially, fifteen students attended classes there. Jess Stone, a
resident of Longcoy, constructed a swinging bridge across Schooner Creek for the

students.

The Automobile Age

The era of isolation and severely hobbled private and public development
came to an end in the age of the automobile. On paper, it would seem the Oregon
Coast entered the automobile age in 1912, when Gov. Oswald West wrote a concise
sixty-word bill declaring Oregon’s seashore a public highway. West later wrote that
he proposed this bill knowing a real road would eventually replace the beach. West
was confident that once the Highway Commission (which he created even though
the state had no highways) had control of the beaches, it would never let the
seashore back into the private sector. The bill was perceived by lawmakers as routine
and it became law with practically no debate.” The beach had served Lincoln County

as a tide-dependent highway ever since the first horse-drawn wagon was introduced

* Salazar Volume III, pg. 104.

% Salazar, Volume II, pg. 20.

%t Harold Hughes, “Crafty Os West Hoodwinked Legislature To Get sandy Beaches For State,” Sunday
Oregonian, 14 May 1967.
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to the area.

That same year, there was a well-publicized effort to generate awareness of the
sad state of Lincoln County roads. A car (complete with a photographer to document
the trip) was driven from Newport to Siletz Bay. All told, the trip took nearly 23
hours. The road improvement efforts of 1912 were somewhat premature; few
people owned cars, and the roads from the Willamette Valley to the coast were little
more than dirt trails.

The dawning of the automobile age appeared on the horizon in 1919, when
Lincoln County’s representative in the Oregon Legislature, Ben E. Jones, introduced
a bill authorizing construction of the Roosevelt Coast Military Highway. It was to be
routed along the coast from the Columbia River to the California line. The U.S.
government was to pay for half of the construction costs; the other half would be
funded by bonds issued by the state.” That same year, Oregon became the first state
in the nation to pass a gasoline tax.

With no opposition to Jones’ bill in the Senate, a $2.5 million bonding
enactment for the highway proposal passed.” It then went before Oregon voters,
who gave it their approval by a wide margin.* Someone once nicknamed it “Ben
Jones’ Wagon Road,” but today we know it as Highway 101. While approval came
quickly from Oregon lawmakers and voters, federal funding was a little slower in
coming.

ﬁy 1923, construction of the highway was at last underway from Newport
north and in southern Tillamook County. The following year, the highway from
Astoria to Taft was considered complete. Road building southward from Taft

continued with the construction of a covered bridge across Schooner Creek. It was

% “Roosevelt Highway Proposed by B.F. Jones,” Yaquina Bay News, 23 January 1919.
5 #Roosevelt Military Highway Bill Passed,” Yaquina Bay News, 27 February 1919.
* #Roosevelt Highway Carries,” Yaquina Bay News, 5 June 1919.
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built by the Rice Brothers as part of their highway construction contract.” For years,
this landmark structure dramatically marked the entrance of northbound motorists
into Taft.

A drawbridge (designed by noted bridge engineer Conde McCullough) was
also completed over Siletz River in 1924 at Kernville. This was the last unbridged
crossing between the Columbia River and the Yaquina Bay.

Perhaps North Lincoln County’s full-fledged entry into the automobile age
could be pinpointed to March 14, 1926. On this day, the oceangoing freighter Roamer
called on Siletz Bay for the final time. The Roamer was the very last of many
privately owned freighters that regularly calted on small Oregon Coast ports to pick
up and deliver freight and passengers. When it tied up to the Taft dock, it took on
canned salmon from Gertula’s Kernville cannery as well as Astoria-bound lumber.”

The departure of The Roamer for the final time marks the beginning of the
end of the waterfront (present-day 51st Street) as Taft's primary business district.
With the completion of the highway, Taft’s port of entry for both goods and people
moved away from the waterfront to the highway. Transporting goods and people
was far cheaper and faster by auto and truck than by boat. In the automobile age,
Highway 101 became the main street for Taft and all the other Oregon Coast
communities on its route.

Small freighters such as the Roamer could not compete in the era of road
building and affordable trucks and automobiles. Henry Ford’s assembly line
production drove the price of the automobile down to the point that nearly

everyone could afford a car. The price of the Model T dipped to a low of $295.

Development Efforts

¥ Deirdre Reynolds, “Schooner Creek Bridge Improved Access to Area,” Coast Tidings, September 1994.
% #No Scene at Taft Like this Since 1926,” Capitol Journal, 27 May 1967.
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Several developers were quick to recognize the impact of the automobile on
the Oregon Coast. North Lincoln County was promoted as a tourist destination
accessible by automobile as well as a desirable place to establish a vacation home.
New resort communities were developed to cater to the motoring public. Camp
Roosevelt, Cutler City, DeLake, Depoe Bay, Gleneden Beach, Neotsu, Lincoln Beach,
Nelscott, Oceanlake, Roads End and Wecoma were all rival developments within a
few miles of Taft that sprang up shortly after the completion of the highway.

Fred C. Robison, Taft's postmaster and store proprietor since 1920, was the
principal developer of Taft at the dawn of the automobile age. Robison had
purchased the Johnsons’ Taft allotment land in 1922. ¥ On August 4, 1926, he filed
an official plat map for Taft with Lincoln County. According to a signed statement
on this map, Robison and his wife, Effie, owned this land and dedicated “the use of
the public forever the streets laid out on said plat.”® On paper, Robison’s Taft
consisted of 141 lots. It was an L-shaped town bordered by the Siletz Bay and the
Pacific Ocean. Taft consisted of one main street (Pacific Avenue) that intersected at
the west end with the Roosevelt Highway. From the highway, it ran west along the
bay to the ocean where it turned ninety degrees north. Two short streets, Pine and
Lincoln (now Ebb Avenue and 48th streets respectively), intersected Pacific Avenue.
Only one street, Sunset (now Coast Avenue), paralleled Pacific Avenue. It was on
the north-south section and was two blocks long.

Today, the Siletz Bay section of Robison’s Pacific Avenue dead-ends near the
mouth of the Siletz Bay and is known as 51st Street. Landslides have since forced the
closure of the section of Pacific Avenue that turned sharply northward. The old
north-south section of Pacific Avenue along the ocean shoreline has since been

renamed S.W. Beach Avenue. The same year Robison filed the plat map for Taft, he

5 Nelson, pg. 59.
 #Taft” official plat map, 4 August 1926, on file with Lincoln City.
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sold his store/ post office building on Pacific Avenue and relocated to a new building
on the Roosevelt Highway.”

Fourteen months after filing Taft’s plat map, Robison filed its first addition.
This addition totaled seventy-eight lots, all on the east side of the Roosevelt
Highway, near the location of the high school, grade school and grange. Seven lots
faced the Roosevelt Highway just north of present-day 51st Street. Most of the lots
were along Rhododendron Street (present-day Keel Avenue); shorter streets
included Manzanita (present-day Jetty Avenue), Schooner Street (the easternmost
section of present-day 50th Street), Spruce Street (present-day 47th Street), Laurel
Street (present-day northern section of Keel Avenue), and Cedar Street, which
apparently no longer exists or never did.”

In October 1927, Robison filed a plat map for yet another addition to Taft. The
fifty-three-lot “Sunset Addition” was on the west side of the Coast Highway. It was a
northward extension of Sunset and Pacific avenues. These two streets paralleled
each other due north and turned inland approximately forty-five degrees to intersect
with the highway.*

It appears the construction of the Oregon Coast Highway sparked a small
economic boom in Taft. Perhaps the competition among the multitude of nearby
upstart communities prevented any single community from becoming

disproportionately large.

A New Business District
The coming of the highway and Fred Robison’s development efforts mark the
beginning of the Taft section of Lincoln City as we know it today. Taft’s core business

¥ Nelson, ps. 60.

& «First Addition to Taft,” official plat map, 14 April 1927, on file with Lincoln City.
s1.#Robison’s First Sunset Addition to Taft, Ore.,” official plat map, 06 October 1927, on file with
Lincoln City.
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district migrated from the waterfront section of Pacific Avenue to the Coast
Highway to take advantage of the tourism business that would follow.

Robison led the way in this transition when he relocated his Siletz Bay
- Trading Post to front the new highway in 1925. Robison’s store (the former Dodson’s
Store) also housed the post office.” Robison constructed several other buildings on
his highway property that were rented and/ or sold. By 1940, there were twenty-
seven retail businesses along Highway 101 in Taft. On the former main street --
Pacific Avenue - there were none. Once the automobile age began, only houses and
lodging establishments were sited on the waterfront, once the area’s hub of
commerce and social activity . ©
Taft Becomes a Tourist Destination

Perhaps as a direct result of the opening up of North Lincoln County to
motoring tourists, Fred Watson came from Hebo in 1927 to build The Pines, a
$20,000, three-story, wood-frame hotel. Sited on the Coast Highway, The Pines was at
the present-day site of The Pines Restaurant. Complete with a ballroom and a
restaurant, Taft’s first destination resort hotel was designed and built in the pre-
automobile age tradition. It would seem there was little other development in the
immediate vicinity of The Pines. A newspaper reporter remarked at its opening,
The Pines had a “wonderfully fine view of the Siletz Bay, mountains, and natural
forest scenes.”® The view was not all that drew people to The Pines; with locals, at
least, it was a popular place to play cards and gamble.

Developments such as The Pines were not really feasible prior to 1927. Up
until that time, North Lincoln County lacked the infrastructure necessary for

commercial growth. Electricity was not available on a regular basis until June of that

52 Nelson, pg. 60.

6 C.R. VanderPool, agent of Northern Assurance Company, “T' aft, Oregon, September 1, 1940,” map on
file with Lincoln City.

st #Taft Hotel Completed,” Yaquina Bay News, 26 May 1927.
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year. Mountain States Power Company established a small generating plant in
DelLake that served 120 customers from Neotsu to Kernville. Two years later,
improvements in the phone system followed. A phone line was installed
connecting Newport with Taft. Prior to that time, phone calls from North Lincoln
County were routed through Corvallis or Tillamook.”

The opening of the highways to North Lincoln County came at a transitional
time in the history of the hospitality industry. The business of tourism as we know
it today was just beginning to take shape. Autocamping, a popular pastime with
middle- and lower-class American motorists, was beginning to wane. This fad had
been around (in localities with roads) since the mid-1910s. Commercial booster clubs
in communities such as Ashland, Oregon, lured tourists and potential new
residents to their communities by building and maintaining free auto camps.
Similar camps were built all over the United States but were particularly prevalent
in the West.

By the time of the construction of the Coast Highway, the days of the free auto
camp were neatly over. Many communities had grown weary of hosting the
“hoboes” and other undesirable people that were, like legitimate tourists, drawn to
free accommodations.® By the mid-1920s, many communities had closed their
camps or turned their operation over to entrepreneurs who implemented a fee
schedule.

When the operation of auto camps went to the private sector, the modern
motel began to emerge. Camp owners found that primitive shacks were popular
with travelers who had tired of pitching a tent each night. Shacks also acted as a
hedge against bad weather. Shrewd camp owners soon found that more elaborate,

homelike accommodations, such as indoor plumbing, would attract more affluent

% “Phone Lines to Laft Being Built,” Newport Journal, 13 March 1929.
% Belasco, pg. 120-121.
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travelers. In the 1920s, the hospitality industry enjoyed a nationwide boom. Cabin
camps, cottage camps, cottage courts and motor courts (all predecessors to the post-
World War Il motel) were constructed at an unprecedented rate.”

Perhaps because of its isolation or the tremendous competition for the tourist
dollar in North Lincoln County, Taft was a little slow to capitalize on this new
industry. By the time of the construction of the first such lodging establishment in
Taft, growth in the hospitality industry had slowed. The country was beginning to
feel the effects of the economic depression that loomed on the horizon.

The Taft Auto Park (also known as the Fruiht Auto Park), built at about the
same time as The Pines, was one of the area’s first establishments built with the
motorist in mind.® It was constructed on Schooner Creek on a low-lying floodplain
that was built up with fill.* Eight years later, proprietor Frank Fruiht added several
“deluxe cabins.””

Fruiht probably added the cabins in an attempt to keep up with his
competition. In 1930, the Jax duplex cottages were built nearby on Drift Creek. Guests
at the Jax enjoyed free use of boats, fishing tackle and crab net as well a log lookout
tower.”

Graham Auto Court was built in 1927 on the Taft waterfront. Located where
the city parking lot is now, it consisted of sixteen attached units with garages ina
single row.” In 1930, its name was changed to Harmony Auto Court.” A month
prior, Craddock’s Cottages, a complex of eight duplex bungalows, was built next door
by Mr. and Mrs. Robert Craddock. The local paper stated with confidence that

s  Almona Gertula Explains Some Early Homes on Taft's 51st Street,” typed paper on file at North
Lincoln Pioneer Museum.

% Galazar, Volume III, pg. 136.

70 #Eruiht Completes Deluxe Cottages,” Beach Resort News, 09 August 1935.

™ Untitled, Beach Resort News, 30 May 1930.

72 Galazar, Volume III, pg. 107.

73 Ganborn Fire Insurance Map, 1951, on file, Oregon Coast History Center.

74 Untitled, Beach Resort News, 04 April 1930.
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Craddock’s Cottages on the Taft waterfront. As of 2001 they were in use as apartments.
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Craddock’s cottages would “be a means assisting Taft very materially in entertaining
visitors.” Amenities included a shared garage and hot and cold running water,
complete with a shower bath.” Subsequent additions boosted Craddock’s Cottages to
twenty-two units with a capacity of 102 guests.

Up until the late 1930s, these were the only lots considered developable on
the south side of Pacific Avenue. The beach came right up to and sometimes onto
Pacific Avenue. This low-lying land was subject to frequent flooding and the
buildup of driftwood carried in by ocean storms. It was considered no-man’s-land
that proved a popular campground. This area was stabilized somewhat when a
wooden bulkhead was constructed along the water’s edge and the area was backfilled
behind the bulkhead. It appears the Port of Newport began this process in 1929 when
a 600-foot-long bulkhead was built after a new dock began to cause erosion.” This
made for a substantial addition to Taft’s waterfront acreage and Fred Robison’s
holdings. Robison had several small cottages moved there from elsewhere in Taft:
Some were sold, others used as rentals. In the years that followed, the wood in the

bulkhead rotted and gave way. It has since been replaced with rock.”

Hard Times

Like the rest of the nation, the Great Depression slowed Taft’s economy
considerably. However, a road and a festival took some of the edge off the economic
downturn. Completion of the Salmon River Cut-Off (present-day Highway 18, from
Grand Ronde to north of present-day Lincoln City) made North Lincoln County
more accessible to residents of Portland and Salem. In 1928, when it appeared the
new road was to became a certainty, the local paper boasted, “Taft will soon be the

center of a development rivaling any city along the coast and the whole state will

7 "Craddock Cottage Nearing Completion,” Beach Resort News, 14 March 1930.
76 Minutes, Port of Newport, 08 February 1929, on file at Port of Newport.
77 Galazar, Volume III, pg. 104.
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know it as the most wide awake and progressive city of the time. ... Taft should
multiply ten-fold the coming summer.”” North Lincoln County residents rejoiced
at the official Salmon River Cut-Off dedication ceremony in 1930 and looked to the
future with great optimism.

The anticipated prosperity proved elusive. Taft was unable to escape the firm
grip of the economic depression of the 1930s. Taft was one of several Oregon
communities to respond to the Great Depression with a festival. Taft’s “Red Head
Roundup” was perhaps one of the more unique Depression-era attempts to attract
visitors. Fred Robison’s brother, Manville, a redhead in his youth, is credited with
the idea for Taft's annual celebration. At first, it was a one-day festival in which
awards were given in various categories such as the most plump woman, most
freckle-faced boy and cutest baby. Its location on the waterfront made contests such
as boat races possible. By the late 1930s, Sam Slocum, a Portland promoter, had
transformed the Redhead Round Up into a profitable venture.

A 1938 Lincoln County directory shows that tourists staying for the roundup
could choose from seven lodging establishments. All were on or within a block of
Taft's waterfront. The Redhead Roundup, like most of Oregon’s Depression-era
festivals, came to an end with the outbreak of World War I1.” In fact, tourism came

to a virtual halt as the nation turned its attention to the war effort.

Post-War Tourism Taft

When Taft incorporated as a city in 1949, its waterfront area was probably at its
peak as a destination for tourists seeking lodging. At this time, Taft’s population was
498. The previous year, voters in Nelscott, Taft, DeLake and Cutler City had soundly

defeated a measure to consolidate into one city. Incorporation may also have been,

78 “Taft Has Brig}?ﬁospects of Becoming Thriving Industrial and Agricultural Center,” Beach Resort
News, 10 February 1928.
79 Ketrina Poole, “Remember Redheads,” News Guard, 02 August 1992.
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at least in part, an attempt to present a unified lobbying front in an effort to obtain
federal funds to dredge Siletz Bay.” Despite the efforts of several of Taft’s prominent
businessmen and Senator Wayne Morse, this attempt to create a deep water
shipping port was not endorsed by the Corps of Engineers (then called the Board of
Engineers) and not funded.

Even with the lack of shipping activity, Taft may have been the most
prosperous of the four cities contemplating consolidation. There were about eleven
lodging establishments operating in historic Taft. All told, 91 tourist cabins, The
Pines Hotel and two trailer courts were on or very near the Taft waterfront.

At this time, the cabins in historic Taft were beginning to fall from favor with
tourists. The modern hotel was beginning to emerge. Hotels provided bedding and
optional kitchens and usually lacked covered garages. In the prosperous years that
followed the war, there was a tremendous boom in the tourism industry.
Convertible touring cars had long lost popularity in favor of the hardtop, and
cottage owners concerned with profits were quick to discover that garages took up
space that could instead be used more profitably for additional revenue-generating
rooms. The demand for cottages with kitchenettes dropped in the prosperous post-
war era. More travelers than ever before could afford to take a break from the chore
of cooking and take their meals in restaurants.”

Taft changed right along with the hospitality industry. Modern motels began
springing up north of historic Taft in an area that became known as Taft Heights.
The single largest motel was the Ester Lee. It started as a four-unit, single-story
building. Each unit originally included a triple bay window to maximize its ocean
view and a garage. In 1943, it was purchased by partners Carrie McClanathan, Bena

Englund and Ada Clark. When two of the partners moved on, McClanathan found

5% “Morse Telegram Heartens Harbor Project Advocates,” North Lincoln County News, 05 April 1949.
*1 Belasco, pgs. 164 -166.
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herself running the place on her own. Unlike Craddock’s Cottages and other
waterfront lodging establishments in this day, the Ester Lee provided guests with
bedding and cooking utensils (including toasters), dinnerware and, perhaps most
importantly, an unobstructed ocean view. Perhaps another advantage the lodging
establishments had over the Taft waterfront cottages was visibility. The Ester Lee
and several other lodging establishments were either on or easily seen from the
Coast Highway.

McClanathan added a basement to house more units. Later she purchased two
nearby lodging establishments, Carroll’s Grand View and the Moore Apartments. In
1945, she built an addition to the Moore Apartments and had a third building
constructed. The oceanfront garages were converted into apartments.

In the twenty-eight years McClanathan ran the Ester Lee, she built it up to
thirty-two units. It remains in operation as the Ester Lee to this day.® Other early
Taft Heights lodging establishments include Crescent Cottages, Hill's Modern
Apartments, Sea Lark Cottages, Taft Auto Court, Taft Height Hotel and Auto Court.

In the post-World War Il years, innovations in recreational vehicles and the
expansion of the state park system shook up the auto camping industry. Camp
trailers and motorhomes (usually home-built) were a rare sight until the post-war
era. In the recreation boom that followed the war, auto campers could select from a
wide variety of factory-made recreational vehicles.® By this time, the state park
system had expanded, particularly on the Oregon Coast. By 1940, there were 1.5
million acres of state park lands on the Oregon Coast. In the post-war years, this land
was developed to accommodate the motoring campers.

The popularity of the state parks, combined with abandonment of the tourist

cottages in favor of modern hotels, ultimately led to a decline in activity on the
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waterfront. While tourism played an instrumental role in shaping historic Taft,

other industries certainly had an impact on the area’s development.

Other Auto-Age Industries

Commercial fishing, North Lincoln County’s first industry, did not endure
into the post-war years. As a commercial venture, fishing on the Siletz began to
wane in the 1920s. In 1927, the Gertula Cannery, the predecessor of the Kern
Brothers Cannery, closed.” The Oregon Fish and Game Commission brought an end
to drift-net fishing on the Siletz River in the early 1930s.”

In its heyday, the wood products industry was much larger than the fishing
industry in Lincoln County. Its growth was made possible by the outbreak of World
War L In an attempt to secure spruce lumber for the construction of airplanes, the
Army built railroad lines from Newport north to Otter Rock and south almost to
Yachats. Construction began on a large mill in Toledo. In North Lincoln County, the
Army’s Spruce Division assumed control of Noon’s sawmill at Kernville (Millport).
Following the war, this mill apparently went back to its owners.

In 1920, two years after the end of the war, C.D. Johnson, head of the Pacific
Spruce Corporation, purchased the majority of the government’s timber holdings in
the county as well as its railroad lines and the Toledo mill.* Around 1923, Johnson
issued a million dollars in stock to acquire timberlands along the Siletz. ¥ According
to one of Johnson’s logging foremen, the largest fir and spruce in the West were on
the Siletz with “fir logs measuring commonly from seventy-two to eighty-two

inches at the butt and Sitka Spruce even larger.”® In the decades that followed,
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Johnson aggressively logged his Siletz timberlands. Johnson transported most of the
logs from the Siletz River to Toledo by rail and later by log truck.

The Johnson operation made a pronounced impact on the economy and
environment of the area. However, the operations of the much smaller Lincoln
County Logging Company were much more visible to the residents of Taft. Lincoln
County Logging started bringing logs out of the Siletz watershed in 1925. Unlike the
Johnson operation, it relied exclusively on tug boats to move log rafts from the
Siletz north to mills on the Columbia River and Washington and to the Johnson
operation in Toledo. Active from 1925 to 1939, its two tugs, the Dodeca and Chahuta,
towed 800 million board feet of logs over the Siletz Bar. One local who was around
at this time recalled that it was practically a “holiday” in Taft when a tug went out
with a raft in tow. Practically. “The whole town was up on the bluff there watching
the operation until they got out in the ocean.”” They were often moored at the
Siletz Bay dock on the Taft waterfront.

The logging of the area’s timberlands was a concern for a group of North
Lincoln County business leaders. They organized to protect land along the lower
Siletz River from “the ravages of the lumber interests.” Their attempt to win
national park status for 32,000 acres and create a tourist destination where motorists
could “drive over its fine boulevards,” or ride “in the Venetian gondolas that may
glide gracefully over its limpid waters,” was unsuccessful. In fact, C.D. Johnson’s
supply of old growth in Lincoln County lasted through the end of the 1940s. In 1948,
about the time Johnson was beginning to run low on old-growth timber, a small
sawmill providing employment for nine people was completed on Schooner Creek,

just east of Taft.”

In 1940, a much smaller forest-based industry established a Taft presence. The
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G.R. Kirk Company of Tacoma, Washington, built a two-story building on Highway
101 near the Schooner Creek Bridge. Aside from upstairs apartments, it housed cold
storage lockers and a room for processing sword ferns that local pickers would
harvest in the nearby forests.

The Kirk Company placed the ferns in cold storage until the product was
shipped to wholesale florists. G.R. Kirk had a network of buying stations in the
county and a second facility in Newport. They claimed to have paid out between
$75,000 and $125,000 each year to local fern pickers. Exactly when the fern plant
closed is not known. The old fern plant no longer exists. It was still in operation into

the 1950s. The Newport operation closed in 1973.

Historic Preservation History

Information on the fern plant and other lesser-known aspects of the region’s
history may have been lost had it not been for the long-standing tradition of interest
in North Lincoln County’s past. In 1947, a group of residents formed the North
Lincoln Pioneer Association. Their mission was to “promote closer relationships
between them and the later settlers; and to record and preserve interesting historical
accounts... .” In 1950, they published a fairly comprehensive history of the area. In
1986 and again in 2001, they published followup editions that primarily contain
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